Stephen F. Austin State University SFA ScholarWorks

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

12-2022

# Religion and Spirituality as a Coping Mechanism for Racial Microaggressions: A Literature Review

Ashia Anderson Stephen F. Austin State University, ashia.jenice@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/etds

Part of the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons Tell us how this article helped you.

#### **Repository Citation**

Anderson, Ashia, "Religion and Spirituality as a Coping Mechanism for Racial Microaggressions: A Literature Review" (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 481. https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/etds/481

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by SFA ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of SFA ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact cdsscholarworks@sfasu.edu.

# Religion and Spirituality as a Coping Mechanism for Racial Microaggressions: A Literature Review

### **Creative Commons License**



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 4.0 License.

# RELIGION AND SPIRITUALITY AS A COPING MECHANISM FOR RACIAL MICROAGGRESSIONS: A LITERATURE REVIEW

By

ASHIA ANDERSON, Bachelor of Science

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

Stephen F. Austin State University

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Master of Arts

STEPHEN F. AUSTIN STATE UNIVERSITY

December, 2022

## RELIGION AND SPIRITUALITY AS A COPING MECHANISM FOR RACIAL

#### MICROAGGRESSION: A LITERATURE REVIEW

By

ASHIA ANDERSON, Bachelor of Science

APPROVED:

Dr. Nina Ellis-Hervey, Thesis Chair

Dr. Daniel McCleary, Committee Member

Dr. Elaine Turner, Committee Member

Dr. Amanda Rudolph, Committee Member

Dr. Sheryl Jerez, Ph. D. Interim Dean of Research and Graduate Studies

#### ABSTRACT

Racial discrimination is still very prevalent in the United States. People of color continue to face racism despite efforts to eradicate it. Sometimes it comes in a more subtle form known as a microaggression which can be an everyday occurrence for many people (Lewis & Neville, 2015). This is a unique stressor in that it targets an aspect of an individual that cannot be changed, and it requires the individual to decide to either confront their offender or handle it in a different manner. The goal of this paper is to perform a literature review to investigate if African Americans use religion and/or spirituality to cope with everyday microaggressions. For a study to be reviewed it had to include African Americans, discuss racial discrimination, and discuss religion and/or spirituality as a coping mechanism. The exclusionary factors were as follows: participants were under the age of 18 and the article did not include a study with participants. It is predicted that African Americans rely on their religion and/or spirituality to help cope with racial microaggressions.

Keywords: religion, spirituality, racial discrimination, coping

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I have to thank my thesis director Dr. Nina Ellis-Hervey whose knowledge and encouragement fueled my perseverance to complete this review. I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. Daniel McCleary, Dr. Elaine Turner and Dr. Amanda Rudolph for their participation and feedback which helped fine tune this paper. I must also thank my parents, friends and coworkers who consistently told me to not give up. Lastly, I have to give thanks to God for His provision and for giving me the energy I needed when sleep and meals had to be sacrificed.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiv
TABLE OF CONTENTSv
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION1
Statement of the Problem10
Hypothesis11
Definition of Terms11
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW
Microaggressions13
Reported Responses to Racial Microaggressions14
Microaggressions, Physiological and Psychological Well-Being15
Religion and Spirituality19
Religious and Spiritual Coping and Its Outcomes
CHAPTER III: METHOD27
Procedural Integrity and Inter-Scorer Agreement

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	29
Demographics	29
Ethnic Identity	34
Racial Microaggression	35
Psychological Well-Being	36
Religion and Spirituality	39
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	44
Limitations	46
Future Studies	48
Conclusion	50
REFERENCES	51
VITA	74

# CHAPTER I

#### Introduction

It is common in the United States for people of color to experience racial discrimination in their everyday life (Holder et al., 2015). Over time discrimination has become more obscure and often the perpetrator is unaware that an offense has been made. These racial slights, known as microaggressions, have been found to impact health and the overall well-being of people of color (Torino, 2017; Williams & Lewis, 2019). Racial microaggression is a term created by psychiatrist Chester Pierce to describe the subtle yet racially motivated words or actions that people of color encounter daily (Williams, 2020). Sue and colleagues (2007) expanded on this idea and defined it as the "brief and commonplace daily verbal, behavioral, and environmental indignities, whether intentional or unintentional, that communicate hostile, derogatory, or negative racial slights and insults to the target person or group" (Sue, Capodilupo, Torino, et al., 2007, p. 273). Racial microaggressions are inadvertent in nature; however, they reveal implicit bias within an individual which may be a symptom of a larger issue. These slights communicate inferiority to an individual and send a message that the recipient of the offense does not fit in with the majority.

There have been several incidents that have occurred in the past few years that demonstrate microaggressive behavior. Several schools have

punished African American students for hairstyles such as hair extensions, dreadlocks, and the use of durags, with school administration stating the hair is in violation of the school dress code (Joseph-Salisbury & Connelly, 2018). At universities, students of color often encounter racial microaggressions in the form of racial jokes and comments, segregated areas which are often labeled "predominately White" or "predominately African American" (or some other minority group), or they receive unequal treatment through policies, housing or from staff (Harwood et al., 2012). In the healthcare setting, microaggressions may influence the decision made by the medical professional based on their view toward a particular group of people. For example, many pregnant African American women have reported feeling disrespected, experiencing stressful interactions and that their healthcare provider was not meeting her needs (McLemore et al., 2018).

Many times, in the workplace, women of color are questioned about their judgment in their area of expertise or are asked to provide more evidence of competence than others (Turner & Gonzalez, 2011). Ten African American women in corporate management positions were asked about their experience with discrimination in their workplace. Each participant stated that they encountered these racial microaggressions in the form of environmental factors such as being chosen for their position specifically for diversity purposes or "tokenism" in which the participant was often given attention to demonstrate that

the company values diversity. Another example of microaggressions that these participants experienced was stereotyping. Often the competence of these women was questioned, and they commonly felt intellectually inferior. Other instances included feeling invisible, being excluded and the assumption that all African Americans shared the same experiences and views (Holder et al., 2015). In general, apart from Asian men and women and male Pacific Islanders, people of color earn less money than non-Hispanic Whites with both African American men and women earning less than any other race (Gender Pay Gap, 2021). These microinsults and microinvalidations are just a few examples of everyday microagressions experienced by people of color.

Although collectively, people of color experience racial discrimination, studies often indicate that African Americans report more microagressive behaviors than any other minority groups (Keith et al., 2017). Though African Americans are more likely to report being discriminated against than other ethnic groups (Boutwell et al., 2017), this may vary based on the importance of their identification with their ethnicity. Research has found that African Americans that highly identify with their race reported experiencing more racial discrimination (Sellers at al., 2003). Ethnic identity is a measure of the salience of race to an individual and can serve as a protective measure against discrimination because a connectedness to one's group serves as a buffer against negative stereotypes and perceptions (Wong et al., 2003). Ethnic identity is also correlated with

positive psychological well-being in that, those who strongly identify with their ethnic group display less signs of depression, higher self-esteem, and job competence (Kerpelmanet et al., 2008). In contrast, lower ethnic identity could make one susceptible to the psychological burden that many feel when encountering racial discrimination (Woo et al., 2019).

When an individual encounters such situations, he or she is likely to question if such treatment is race-based or the result of another characteristic. Internalized racism is a term used to describe an individual who rejects him-or herself and others of the same ethnicity because of the racism and oppression experienced by a member or members of a majority group. He or she accepts the negative racial messages conveyed to them by those who make racist remarks. In contrast, external racism includes the discrimination, prejudice, or violence of others (Bailey et al., 2011). Both internalized racism and racist events are predictors of psychological distress (Szymanski & Obiri, 2011). Psychological distress can then manifest into physiological symptoms such as a rise in temperature (Oka, 2015), an increased risk for hypertension (Hu et al., 2015), insulin resistance (Li et al., 2013) or it could lead to an inability to be physically active (Stults-Kolehmainen et al., 2015). As such, it is likely that stress that is caused by experiencing frequent microaggresions could eventually lead to a decrease in physiological well-being.

#### Racial Discrimination and Psychological and Physiological Well-Being

Racial discrimination has not only been found to have implications for physical safety but has also been associated with having a significant impact on an individual's psychological and physiological well-being. It is a different stressor in comparison to generic, everyday stressors such as losing an item or getting stuck in traffic because racism is degrading and attacks a part of a person that cannot be changed (i.e., their skin color) (Landrine & Klonoff, 1996). Racial discrimination has been found to increase psychological stress responses such as anxiety, anger, depression, and fear (Nadal et al., 2014; Soto et al., 2011). Prelow et al. (2006) found that racial discrimination had a positive correlation with depressive symptoms and a negative correlation with life satisfaction. In addition to the psychological effects, microaggressions may have a physiological impact. In one study, African Americans who reported racial discrimination were more likely to have more carotid plaque which increases the risk of heart disease (Troxel et al., 2003) which may lead to a heart attack or even heart failure. Perceived discrimination has also led some to have issues with hypertension (Dolezsar et al., 2014).

The term "stress" was first coined by Hans Selye in 1936 and he defined it as, "the non-specific response of the body to any demand for change (What is Stress, 2017, para. 1)." In recent decades this definition appears to have shifted to what an individual experiences when he or she is "unable to cope with

demands because of a lack of resources (e.g., time, money, or social support)" (Ng et al., 2009). There are various stressors that people of any race experience including work, family, finances, and many other stressors. There are additional stressors that appear to be higher in the African American community than other races in America including stress-related health disparities and racial discrimination.

It is not uncommon for individuals to feel that they cannot express their concerns in fear of retribution. In this instance, when an individual is faced with microaggressive behavior he or she must cope with the stress in a different way. The physiological and psychological effects of stress may be mitigated by the effective use of coping strategies. There is ample research on coping mechanisms for stress; however, there is less research on the coping mechanisms used by African Americans regarding racial microaggressions.

#### **Coping Mechanisms**

A coping mechanism is a strategy an individual uses when faced with a stressful situation to help alleviate the negative effects of stress. There are several strategies that an individual can rely on to help reduce stress. Humor has been found to reduce stress and negative affective responses as well as lower physiological arousal (Abel, 2002). Optimism has also been found to be a moderator to stress and was found to be negatively correlated with depression and positively correlated with perceived social support (Applebaum et al., 2014).

John Henryism is a term used to describe an active coping mechanism in which people actively work to cope with prolonged psychosocial stress (James, 1994). Carver et al. (1989) developed the COPE inventory which measures how an individual responds when confronted with a stressful situation. These strategies include positive reinterpretation and growth, mental disengagement, focus on and venting of emotions, use of instrumental social support, active coping, denial, humor, behavioral disengagement, restraint, use of emotional social support, substance use, acceptance, suppression of competing activities, planning and religious coping (Litman, 2006).

There is a great deal of research that shows the effectiveness of religious coping for individuals who choose this approach. Religious coping was found to have a significant impact on health outcomes among ill, elderly patients. For patients who participated in positive religious coping (e.g., seeking spiritual support and benevolent religious reappraisal) there was improvement in their overall health. In addition, those who engaged in negative religious coping (e.g., punishing God reappraisal and interpersonal religious discontent) showed a decline in health (Pargament et al., 2004). Religious coping is also used by people who suffer from posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and depression. A study with Pakistani earthquake survivors revealed that individuals who engaged in negative religious coping had more symptoms of PTSD and experienced more negative emotions (Feder et al., 2013). Religion is one coping mechanism that is

often used by African Americans to help manage difficult situations (Chatters at al., 2008).

#### African Americans, Religion, and Spirituality

Religion is a belief system that has been found to help African Americans, particularly African American women, to overcome adversity (Ward & Heidrich, 2009). Religion and religious institutions have played a significant role in the lives of African Americans for over a century. The African American Church has been a driving force in providing education, engaging in social justice issues, and providing health care services to the church and community (Taylor & Chatters, 2010). Many turn to prayer, their spiritual beliefs, or their relationship with God to cope with discrimination (Shorten-Gooden, 2004). According to a 2015 study conducted by the Pew Research Center, almost 80% of minorities surveyed identified with a religious group (Religion in America, 2015). These groups included both Christian and non-Christian faiths. Of the non-White Christian groups, an estimated 15.9 million individuals claimed to attend historically African American Protestant churches. This was significantly higher than any other group for both Christian and non-Christian faiths. In another study conducted by the Pew Research Center (Religion in America, 2014), roughly eight in ten African Americans self-identify as Christian, as do 77% of Latinos and seven in ten Caucasians (Masci, 2018). In addition, many African American Americans

believe that opposing racism is essential to being Christian (Mohamed et al., 2021).

Although relying on family and community, having a belief in perseverance and achievement, and anger suppression (Brondolo et al., 2009; Daly et al., 1995) have been identified as effective strategies, one long-lasting, culturerelated means of coping by African Americans with heightened environmental stress is religiosity and/or spirituality (Thomas et al., 2008). Religion is viewed as a means of connection with individuals who share a common belief system and spirituality is viewed as a means to connect with a deity. Religious coping has been found to be beneficial for those individuals who are experiencing a stressful situation that surpasses their resources (Pargament & Raiya, 2007). An individual that perceives microaggressions as out of their control may seek help from those around them or a Higher Power.

Several studies indicate that African Americans report experiencing racial discrimination more than other minority groups; therefore, this study will focus specifically on the affective responses of African Americans (Brown, 2019; Douds & Houts, 2020; Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2017). In addition, religious coping is a strategy used by many African Americans and this study will explore the reliance on religion and spirituality in regard to the stress produced from racial microaggressions. Given that the results of this more recent survey indicate noteworthy within-group variance in both religiosity and spirituality, and

that younger African Americans are less frequently asserting religious affiliation (Religion in America, 2014), a study of the traditional use and effectiveness of religiosity and spirituality as means of coping with the African American experience in this country is warranted.

#### Statement of the Problem

Racial discrimination is a major issue in the United States that has persisted for centuries, making it a systematic issue (Feagin & Bennefield, 2014). As such, that makes it difficult to completely eradicate. While it is widely known that religion and spirituality play an important role in most African Americans lives, little research has examined how religion and spiritualty influences behavioral response to racial microaggression. The purpose of this study was to examine the following research questions:

- To what degree do African American's demographics (gender, age, education-level), ethnic identity, and reports of racial microaggression explain the variance in psychological well-being?
- 2. To what degree do religiosity and spirituality moderate the influence of demographics (age, gender, education-level), ethnic identity, and reported racial microaggression on African American's psychological well-being?

#### Hypotheses

- It is hypothesized that ethnic identity, high reports of racial microaggression and education level will have a negative correlation with psychological well-being in African Americans.
- Religiosity and spirituality are also hypothesized to mediate the psychological effects of racial microaggressions towards African Americans.

#### **Definition of Terms**

#### Microaggression

Subtle and commonplace daily verbal, behavioral, environmental insults and indignities, whether intentional or unintentional, that have the potential to bring psychological harm on the targeted person or group (Sue, Capodilupo, Torino, et al., 2007; Sue, Capodilupo, & Holder, 2008).

#### Microassaults

"Explicit behaviors intending to hurt a person of color such as name calling, avoidance, and discrimination" (Hernandez et al., 2010, p. 203).

#### Microinsults

"Actions (verbal, nonverbal, or environmental) that convey insensitivity, are rude or directly demeans a person's racial identity or heritage" (Sue, Capodilupo, & Holder, 2008, p.331)

#### Microinvalidation

"Communications that exclude, negate, or nullify the psychological thoughts, feelings, or experimental reality of a person of color" (Sue, 2007, p. 73).

#### Religiosity

"The degree to which individuals adhere to the prescribed beliefs and practices of an organized religion" (Mattis, 2002, p. 310).

#### Spirituality

"An individual's beliefs in the sacred and transcendent nature or life, and the manifestation of these beliefs in a sense of connectedness with others (e.g., humans, spirits, and God), and in the quest for goodness" (Mattis, 2002, p. 310).

#### Positive Religious Coping

"A sense of connectedness with a transcendent force, a secure relationship with a caring God, and a belief that life has a greater benevolent meaning" (Pargament et al., 2011, p. 58).

#### Negative Religious Coping

Signs of spiritual tension, conflict and struggle with God and others, as manifested by negative reappraisals of God's powers (e.g., feeling abandoned or punished by God), demonic reappraisals (i.e., feeling the devil is involved in the stressor), spiritual questioning and doubting, and interpersonal religious discontent (Pargament et al., 2011, p. 58).

# CHAPTER II Literature Review

#### **Microaggressions**

Racial microaggressions are experienced in everyday life and, for some individuals, they encounter them daily. Discrimination is experienced at both the interpersonal and institutional level (Karlsen & Nazroo, 2002). In a study that compared the discriminatory experiences by African Americans in the UK and U. S., 80% of the U.S. participants had reported experiencing racial discrimination at one point in their life in contrast to one third of the UK participants. This indicates that racial issues continue to persist at high rates within the United States and the reporting of an incident demonstrates that the event had an impact on the individual to a marked degree. Microaggressions are often experienced in the workplace (Nadal et al., 2014; Sue, Capodilupo, & Holder, 2008) as well as at schools and universities (Huber & Solorzano, 2014). Students of color often encounter racial microaggressions in the form of racial jokes and comments, segregated areas which are often labeled "predominately White" or "predominately African American" (or some other minority group), or they receive unequal treatment through policies, housing, and staffing (Harwood et al., 2012). In addition, if a racial microaggression is perceived, it appears to create a reaction that expends energy in the areas of cognition, emotion, and behavioral

expression (Sue, Capodilupo, & Holder, 2008). This reaction to a racial offense may have implications on psychological well-being.

#### **Reported Responses to Racial Microaggressions**

Although collectively, people of color experience racial discrimination, studies often indicate that African Americans report more microagressive behaviors than any other minority groups (Keith et al., 2017). In a study conducted by Sue, Capodilupo, Torino, et al. (2007), participants were asked about their reaction to perceived discrimination. These researchers examined how African American participants perceived, reacted to, and interpreted experiences of microaggressions and the consequences that resulted from the incident. The participant's interpretation of the offences provided insight into what each incident meant to the participant. When reporting reactions to perceived microaggression, the participants expressed feelings of invalidation, a lack of belonging to a particular group or society as a whole and feelings of distrust from others. As a result, individuals reported a sense of powerlessness due to not knowing how to handle the situation. In this study, the researchers also discussed four dilemmas that may occur when an individual experiences microaggresive behavior. One dilemma is a clash of realities in which Caucasians and African Americans may interpret a situation differently. Another dilemma is expressing bias unintentionally. Unbeknownst to the offender, there

may be an underlying racial bias that influences how he or she acts towards another. The third dilemma happens when the offender believes that minimum harm is caused, and that the recipient of the offense is perceived to be overly sensitive. Lastly, there is a dilemma in knowing how to respond. First, the person had to determine whether a microaggression had occurred. Second, the person had to decide how to respond. If nothing is said, then it could lead to downplaying the incident or harboring negative emotions. However, responding in anger or merely confronting the perpetrator could make the individual appear overly sensitive or angry (Sue, Capodilupo, Torino, et al., 2007).

Sue, Nadal, et al. (2008) conducted a focus group to discover what microaggresive encounters those individuals experienced. They found six common themes of the microaggressive comments between the two groups: assumption of intellectual inferiority, second-class citizenship, a belief that the individual had committed a crime, assumption of inferior status, assumption that all African Americans share the same experience and the assumption of Caucasian cultural values or communication styles. In addition, this race-related stress had a lasting psychological impact in which the participants had feelings of anger, frustration and/or confusion concerning the event.

#### Microaggressions, Physiological and Psychological Well-Being

The perception of racial microaggressions has been found to have a negative impact on health outcomes (Karlsen & Nazroo, 2002) including a stroke, heart attack and cancer (Sawyer et al., 2012). It may lead to sleep disturbance, headaches, and an elevated heart rate (Smith, 2004). These effects are often the result of race-related stress created by the perception of microaggressions. In addition, data from the National Survey of American Life revealed that older African American females reported higher levels of depressive symptoms than older African American males (Seaton et al., 2010). Harrell's research (2000) suggests that there are a minimum of six types of racism-related stress experienced by many African Americans. These types are racism-related life events, vicarious racism experiences, daily racism, microstressors, chroniccontextual stress, collective experiences of racism, and the transgenerational transmission of group traumas. Stress caused by racism can occur from daily experiences in the form of microaggressions, observations or hearing reports of race-related incidents, or from environmental structures (e.g., social constructs, unequal distribution of resources, institutional racism, and so forth).

Clark et al. (1999) studied the psychological, physiological, and social effects of perceived racism for African Americans. They sought to discover these differences as a way to understand inter-and intragroup differences which could

have several important implications. First, if a perceived racial event causes stress, it may explain intergroup differences on health outcomes. Another aspect that may impact health outcomes are different experiences of discrimination as well as different coping mechanisms amongst African Americans. Third, if it is determined that racism is a contributing factor to negative health outcomes of African Americans then strategies for prevention and interventions could be tailored to this specific group of people. What is interesting about the study is that it is based on an individual's perception of his or her external environment. The very thought of experiencing discrimination may lead to psychological distress depending on the magnitude and/or frequency of the discriminatory acts. Overtime the stress responses may begin to impact the individual physiologically impacting their overall well-being.

Smith et al. (2011) conducted a study that explored the relationship between level of education, racial microaggressions, societal problems and mundane environmental stress in African American males. The researchers found that educational attainment was positively correlated with every day, environmental stress. That is, an African American man with a higher level of education is likely to have a job that has predominately Caucasian workers and as such, they encounter more racial microaggressions. They also found that, for college graduates, both racial microaggressions and societal issues contributed to 40% of mundane environmental stress. In another study, Smith et al. (2007)

explored the psychosocial experiences of African American males that attended one of five universities. They suggest that African American males that attend college at a historically Caucasian institution encounter racial microaggressions that often lead to stress. Over time this stress takes a physiological and psychological toll that impacts the individual's health. Interviews with these 36 African American males revealed that they had experienced psychological stress from racial microaggressions. Many of them also stated that they were determined to overcome such obstacles. While this study did not explore methods used by the participants to overcome psychological stress, it demonstrates a need for coping strategies to mitigate race-related stress. For some individuals, verbalizing an offense to another individual has aided in stress reduction.

A study conducted by Krieger and Sidney (1996) found that African Americans who reported challenging unfair treatment had lower blood pressure than those who did not challenge discrimination. In addition, approximately 90% of participants reported talking to someone about their experience with unfair treatment. This again demonstrates a need to release the tension or stress caused by the event. This finding also suggests that the adoption of religiosity or spirituality may have a positive impact for some individuals.

#### **Religion and Spirituality**

There is a body of research that demonstrates the use of religion and spirituality to cope with stressful situations (King & Furrow, 2004; Muireann, 2011). Researchers have studied the reliance of religion and spirituality regarding life-threatening situations such as cancer (Breitbart et al., 2004) and HIV/AIDS (Cotton et al., 2006). There is also research that suggests that individuals who experience chronic pain are less likely to rely on religious or spiritual coping (Rippentrop et al., 2005). This implies that the long-term negative effects of racial microaggressions may impact an individual's religious or spiritual beliefs and practices. In these cases, the individual is more likely to feel abandoned by God, may become less forgiving of others and lack support from a religious community. The perception of racial microaggressions influences an individual's reaction and the level of severity is likely to determine the reliance on religious or spiritual beliefs if an individual identifies as religious or spiritual.

Religion and religious institutions have played a significant role in the lives of African Americans for over a century. The African American Church has been a driving force in providing education, engaging in social justice issues, and providing health care services to the church and community (Taylor & Chatters, 2010). In addition, African American churches and religious leaders have historically paved the way for socio-political mobilization when it comes to

seeking justice for African Americans (Mattis et al., 2004). For example, Martin Luther King, Jr. was both a reverend and activist and his words and actions were heavily influenced by the Bible and his Christian faith. According to the 2009 Pew Research Center's "A Religious Portrait of African-Americans" analysis, 53% of African Americans attend religious services at least once a week, 76% pray daily and 88% are certain that God exists (Pew Research Center, 2009). For many African Americans, religiosity and spirituality are core components in their life so much so that it influences how experiences are internalized and conceptualized (Wood & Hilton, 2012). Significant situations, such as discrimination, are likely to be examined through a spiritual lens in which the individual seeks to understand the offense and how to handle it. This is especially true when it comes to racial microaggressions that are experienced frequently as they inadvertently attack a person's character and/or identity.

Where a spiritual or religious person would turn to a deity, a sacred book or someone within their religious community for comfort and guidance, nonreligious/spiritual people must cope in a different way. Some of these individuals have reported relying on substances such as alcohol (Boynton et al., 2014), tobacco use (Agunwamba et al., 2017), marijuana and other drugs (Assari et al., 2019; Carliner, 2016). Other effective coping strategies include anger expression (Park et al., 2018), talking to others (i.e., social support) or trying to do something about it (Linnabery et al., 2014; Polanco-Roman et al., 2016). Mattis et al. (2004)

found that men between the ages of 17-40 who reported experiencing stress from everyday racism were more likely to join political/social justice organizations. Also in this study, it was discovered that church involvement was a predictor for volunteerism but not for involvement in a political/social organization. Subjective religion (i.e., reporting that religion is important in one's life) was a greater predictor for membership in the political/social organization than institutional religion (i.e., participating in the practices of organized religion). It is possible that those who state religion is important in their lives but do not regularly attend church, may engage in more secular activities and therefore are more likely to be introduced to organizations that fight for political and social justice.

Post and Weddington (2000) explored the correlation between African American physicians and stress as well as how these physicians coped with work-related stress (Post & Weddington, 2000). Many of the participants indicated that racism was a main source of stress as it created a hostile environment and increased the need to prove that they were capable. Among the stated coping mechanisms by participants, spirituality and church were common coping strategies used to help manage the effects of discrimination. In another study, researchers investigated if African Americans used different coping strategies for different situations or the same coping mechanisms for every circumstance. What they found was that out of the 14 coping strategies that are a

part of the Brief COPE (Carver, 1997), half of them were used for dispositional coping (i.e., behavior that effects a person's emotional or functional reaction to a stressor). Interestingly, there were two coping strategies that were used significantly more for race-related situations: religion and venting. Like other studies mentioned before, this varied between genders with African American women more likely to rely on religion to help deal with the stress brought on by racism (Brown et al., 2011). Szymanski and Obiri (2011) reported that racist events and internalized racism were positively correlated with the use of both positive and negative religious coping. Experiences with racial events led to both positive and negative coping indicating a greater need for coping mechanisms to help manage external stressors. On the contrary, internal racism only led to negative religious coping but not positive religious coping. This aligns with the concept of negative religious coping in which the individual is likely to feel guilty and blame his-or herself for what occurred.

#### **Religious and Spiritual Coping and Its Outcomes**

Individuals who rely on negative religious coping are likely to blame God for circumstances and situations as well as have a negative outlook on life. As a result, it may lead to a decrease in psychological well-being. On the contrary, positive religious coping has been found to have a positive impact on mental health. Gerber et al. (2011) explored the effectiveness of religious coping to help

individuals who suffered from posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). What they found was that those who relied mostly on positive religious coping made more posttraumatic growth than those who engaged in negative religious coping. In addition, individuals who used negative religious coping to manage their PTSD showed continual symptoms of PTSD. In another study, individuals with psychosis have been found to engage in religious coping mechanisms (Rosmarin et al., 2013). Those who engaged in negative religious coping had greater symptoms of suicidality, depression, and anxiety; however, there was no effect on psychosis symptoms. In contrast, individuals who engaged in positive religious coping had less symptoms of depression and anxiety and were reported to have greater psychological well-being. Like negative religious coping, positive coping did not decrease psychosis symptoms. This study demonstrated that positive religious coping may impact psychological well-being as well as symptoms of depression and anxiety.

Religious coping is also utilized in several different circumstances. When working through various difficult situations such as health issues, poverty or racism, African Americans often report that prayer and other religious resources are how they cope with such stressors. Religion and spirituality are a welldocumented coping mechanism for African Americans. Church institutions and communities provide individuals with social support, including people who share a similar worldview (George et al., 2002). The National Survey of African

American Americans found that nine out of ten participants stated that private prayer or asking someone to pray for them was their most frequent coping mechanism (Chatters et al., 2008). In a qualitative study, Mattis (2002) discovered eight underlying themes that explained the importance of prayer to these women. Some of these themes included confronting and accepting reality, challenging, and exceeding limitations and providing a guideline for behavior. VanderWeele et al. (2017) found that individuals who frequently attend religious services lived in a lower SES neighborhood, were less likely to be depressed, had lower perceived stress, and relied on their religion as a coping mechanism. Individuals who attend religious services may have a lower perception of racial microaggressions and if race-related discrimination is experienced, it is likely that religious coping will be utilized.

According to the Pew Research Center (2018), 79% of African Americans identify as Christian, 18% are unaffiliated, 2% identify as Muslim and 1% identify with other faiths (Masci, 2018). As such, the remainder of this review will focus on the Christian faith; however, it should be noted that each major religion acknowledges transgressions, the desire for peace and practices such as meditation, prayer, rituals, along with others, to help an individual understand and navigate through life. One component of the Christian religion is the acknowledgment of sin and the opportunity to receive forgiveness from God, and consequently being compelled to forgive others as a result.

According to the Bible, sin is a transgression of the law of God and rebellion against God. Therefore, the perception of racial microaggression (i.e., a wrongdoing) is likely to create a physiological/psychological response in the individual who was the recipient of the offense. The individual must then decide how to handle the stress. Those who are religious/spiritual are predicted to behave in accordance with their religion or deity. Krause and Ellison (2003) conducted a study to determine the relationship between various types of forgiveness and psychological well-being. The results showed that individuals who forgave others without requiring restitution had a higher level of psychological well-being (Krause & Ellison, 2003). Moreover, individuals who felt that they were forgiven by God were twice as likely to believe that others should be forgiven unconditionally. Therefore, African and American who believe he or she is forgiven by God is likely to forgive their offender without requiring that person to perform an act of contribution. It can then be predicted that this person will also have a more passive affective response when a perceived microaggression occurs because of a willingness to forgive wrongdoings. In the Bible, Jesus says, "Father, forgive them, for they know not what they do, (*English* Standard Version Bible, 2001, Luke 23:43)." Therefore, if an individual were to be like Jesus Christ, he or she would extend the same grace to his or her offender.

It is common that a relationship with God, or a higher power, influences how an individual interacts with others. Lewis et al. (2007) conducted a focus-

group to study how African Americans defined spirituality as well as what it looks like as it relates to God and people. One distinction between spirituality and religion is the display of unconditional love or acts of altruism. It was mentioned that perhaps the definition of spirituality was born out of experiences of oppression in which the individual would show love and kindness despite ill treatment. This is likely true for that group of participants but could not be generalized to all African Americans.

Though research has shown that religion can be, and is used, as a coping mechanism, little research has focused on how religious coping is used for race-related stressors reported by African American populations. This study will explore the impact of religion and spirituality on behavioral response from African Americans who experience race related microaggressions in their daily life. The purpose of this study is to examine the following research questions:

- To what degree do African American's demographics (gender, age, education-level), ethnic identity, and reports of racial microaggression explain the variance in psychological well-being?
- 2. To what degree do religiosity and spirituality moderate the influence of demographics (age, gender, education-level), ethnic identity, and reported racial microaggression on African American's psychological well-being?

## CHAPTER III Method

For this structured literature review, articles were found using the following databases: PsychINFO, ERIC, and Scopus. The keywords used to search the articles were 'African American AND coping AND discrimination.' This search was conducted on August 7, 2021 and generated 185 articles. All articles were placed in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet which included the title, author(s) name(s), publication date, the source title, DOI and document type. The spreadsheet was used as an aid for the review of the literature to help answer the research questions. For an article to meet the eligibility criteria, the study had to include African Americans, discuss racial discrimination and religion and/or spirituality as a coping mechanism. Articles were excluded if participants were under the age of 18, was not peer reviewed or if it was a meta-analysis instead of quantitative research.

First, 14 duplicate articles were removed. For the remaining articles, the abstracts were read, and 105 articles were eliminated if the criteria were not met. From there, the remaining articles (n = 66) were read in full and eliminated if they did not meet the criteria stated above. This process yielded 25 articles that met full criteria. With each article, the information was analyzed and used to determine if there was variance in psychological well-being when comparing

demographics, ethnic identity, and reports of racial microaggressions. The articles were also reviewed to determine if there is data to support religiosity and spirituality as an effective coping strategy for the stress because of perceived racial microaggressions.

#### **Procedural Integrity and Inter-Scorer Agreement**

Keyton et al. (2004, as cited in Aravindan and Vivekanandan, 2017) defined inter-rater reliability as the degree in which the method used to collect data is used in a consistent manner. That is, the procedure used to find the articles in this structured literature review should be able to be replicated repeatedly and produce the same results. To assess the procedural integrity of the articles used in this review, an independent review rater was utilized. This independent review rater was a fifth-year Stephen F. Austin State University graduate student in the Master of Arts School Psychology program. The rater was sent a list of the full-text articles that were reviewed (n=66) and was asked to try to find 13 of the articles (20% of the articles). The formula to determine interscorer agreement is as follows: the total articles in agreement divided by articles in agreement plus articles in disagreement and that total is then multiplied by 100. Thus, the agreement rate between the two raters was 92%.

# **CHAPTER IV**

#### Results

One hundred and eighty-five articles were screened and a total of 160 were eliminated based on their relevance to the research questions and demographic. Duplicate studies were also eliminated. In total, 25 articles were analyzed in this study. Of these articles, many of them explored different facets of racial discrimination, psychological well-being, religion, and spirituality. The articles were placed in a chart which was used to organize the articles' information into the following categories: demographic information, type of research study, measures used and the results of each study.

# Demographics

All but one of the articles found included a sample size of at least 100 participants with the exception being 26 members who were a part of a focus group. These studies also included individuals over the age of 18 and typically had mixed genders and amounts of completed education. Smith et al. (2008) sought to determine if there was a connection between coping responses and racism and if this connection could be used to predict psychological distress. The participants in this study attended an undergraduate introductory psychology

course and were around the age of 20. As a part of the study, the researchers asked the participants to self-report various coping strategies that they implored and when ordered from most endorsed to least, religious coping was the fourth most relied on out of the nine coping strategies addressed. The researchers found that psychological distress brought on by discrimination was mitigated by individuals seeking social support. The type of social support was not specified (i.e., church support, friends, or family) nor was religious coping explored in this study. In contrast, Brown and Tylka (2011) found that religious and spiritual practices alone did not mitigate the effects of stress caused by racial microaggressions for African American students between the ages of 18-34. However, racial socialization messages including messages appreciating African American culture were found to be a helpful buffer (Brown &Tylka, 2011).

Krause (2004) explored the relationship between religion and life satisfaction among older African Americans. The sample included African Americans over the age of 66 years with 36% of participants being men. The number of years of completed education was a controlled measure. Krause found that churchgoers find emotional support in church members and reported greater life satisfaction if they believed that religion helped them face racial injustice. In another study, researchers conducted a similar study that examined the role the church plays in the lives of elderly African Americans when faced with racial discrimination (Nguyen, 2018). When comparing lifetime generalized

anxiety disorder (GAD), frequency of contact with church members and everyday discrimination, the data indicates that older African Americans with a low frequency of contact with a church member who reported more discriminatory experiences were at a greater risk for lifetime GAD. No association was found for those who reported experiencing discrimination and lifetime GAD with high levels of closeness with church members (Nguyen, 2018). The effectiveness of church support when dealing with discrimination and psychiatric orders (i.e., panic disorder, social phobia, agoraphobia without panic, generalized anxiety disorder, major depressive disorder, dysthymia, and various bipolar disorders) was also explored. In a sample size of 837 adults over the age of 55 (60% women), researchers found that relationships with church members was an effective coping mechanism for racial discrimination. There was also a decrease in mood disorder symptoms (Nguyen et al., 2021).

There were also studies that were gender specific and studied the effectiveness of religious and/or spiritual coping strategies used by African American men and women. In a study conducted by Hudson et al. (2016), they studied stressors experienced by African American men that may impact their health as well as inquired about their coping strategies. Data was collected from 26 African American males through a focus group. Three main themes were found during the data analysis: perception of discrimination, perceptions of structural racism and coping mechanisms. Discrimination was reported to be

experienced in a variety of different settings including structural racism (e.g., school systems and neighborhoods). Participants also reported that they relied on a variety of different coping mechanisms, one being religion and spirituality. It was not reported how many participants found this to be a positive coping mechanism. Odom and Vernon-Geagans (2010) sought to discover if racial discrimination was a predictor of depression in African American mothers with young children and if church-based social support was a moderator for stress. There was a total of 444 African American women who lived in a low income, rural area in North Carolina. After controlling for demographic variables, they found that optimism and church support reduced symptoms of depression in these women.

Sullivan et al. (2021) examined gender differences in reaction to and types of coping mechanisms used when dealing with discrimination. They found that African American women were less willing to accept discrimination as a way of life and were more likely to become angry, pray or talk to someone about the event or situation in comparison to African American men. Many African American men choose to accept discrimination while many African American women become angry, pray, talk to someone, or do something about it. While this study did not explicitly state the word 'microaggressions,' it measured minor day-to-day incidents of discrimination in which the participant reported being treated unfairly and attributed it to their race. In contrast to the previous study,

Thomas et al. (2008) found that, although African American women report racism experienced specifically by African American women (i.e., gendered racism), spiritual-centered and ritual-centered coping mechanisms were not found to mitigate stress for the women in this study. The youngest age represented in this study was 18 and there were women over the age of 51 (eldest member unspecified in study). There was also a wide range of incomes and various educational backgrounds.

Lewis-Coles and Contantine (2006) looked at which type of racism-related stress implored a certain coping mechanism. They found that institutional racism was associated with higher use of cognitive/emotional debriefing (i.e., adaptive reaction to manage perceived environmental stress), spiritual-centered coping, and collective coping (i.e., coping strategies that rely on group-centered activities) in African American women. Men were more likely to rely on collective coping strategies when they experienced racism-related stress. The sample included African American adults in the northeastern part of the United States. The ages ranged from 18 and older and there were varying education levels and socioeconomic statuses.

Greer (2011) looked at the relationships between coping mechanisms, individual race-related stress, and mental health. In this study, ritual-centered coping mechanisms were associated with higher levels of anxiety. One

explanation for this was the idea that spiritual and religious coping requires one to relinquish control and trust in a deity and therefore, this surrender may cause some to become more stressed. This sample included African American women at a predominately White university in the Southeastern region of U.S. ages 18-46 that were employed either part or full time. The year the student was in college was also measured but not reported.

In studies that included both men and women, the women were always the more dominate gender in the sample. Many studies found that African American women often relied on religion and spirituality to help mitigate the effects of racial discrimination (Lewis-Coles & Constantine, 2006; Sullivan et al., 2021; Teteh et al., 2019).

#### **Ethnic Identity**

Out of the 25 articles reviewed, only one study measured ethnic identity. It was measured using the Sociocultural Scale which has seven questions used to measure racial pride. Utsey et al. (2008) wanted to determine if cultural, sociofamilial and/or psychological resources decreased psychological distress caused by race-related stress. The sample population included individuals between the ages of 18 to 26 who had household incomes that ranged from below \$20000 and above \$80000, and self-identified as African American (n = 215). The researchers found that reports of race-related events were a greater

predictor of psychological distress than other stressful life events. Those with high reports of racism and high reports of religiosity experienced more psychological distress. High religiosity was coupled with high racial pride and was thought to be in correlation with one another due to the likelihood that someone with high racial pride is likely to have increased perception of facing discriminatory acts. As such, high reports of racial discrimination would increase the need for coping mechanisms, one of which is turning to religious practices. No correlation was found between income, race-related events, and psychological distress. The other articles reviewed appeared to have a singular question in which participants self-reported the race they most identified with no further exploration. For example, Hayward and Krause (2015) used a single item to ask participants how close they felt to particular groups (i.e., race, religious Blacks, and a specific religious congregation). A correlation was not established between racial identification and religious coping strategies and psychological well-being was not measured in this study.

#### **Racial Microaggression**

Few studies explicitly stated the term 'mircroaggresion' or similar terms (i.e., microassults or microinvalidations) however, many described racial discrimination experienced daily in places such as the workplace or school (Lunyera et al., 2018; Simons et al., 2019; Sullivan et al., 2021). Studies often

relied on one of the following scales: Schedule of Racist Events, General Ethnic Discrimination Scale, Daily life Experience scale, Race-Related Stress (brief), or Experiences of Racism Scale. A few studies asked participants questions created by the researchers of the study. In all the studies, African American participants indicated feeling stress from experiencing racial discrimination.

# **Psychological Well-Being**

While all studies mentioned the implications racial discrimination has on psychological well-being, few relied on valid and reliable measures. Some questions to measure well-being were created by the researcher(s) while others merely provided references to studies conducted by other researchers. Scales that were used to measure psychological well-being included the Cook-Medley Hostility scale, Spielberger Trait Anger scale, Satisfaction with Life scale, the Brief Symptom Inventory, Symptoms Checklist, and Brief-COPE. In addition, some studies measure well-being based on health or substance use. Simons et al. (2019) sought to determine if there was a relationship between racial discrimination, religious involvement, and inflammation (Simons et al., 2019). Their study relied on the Family and Community Health Study (FACHS) which is a longitudinal study that studies different aspects that relate to African American parents and children dynamics. In this study religiosity was measured using a five-item scale. They controlled for several factors that have been linked to health

including gender, education, age, weekly income, work status, relationship status, health insurance, whether the participant smoked a cigarette or consumed alcohol within the past year, and diet. The study did not differentiate between friends and religiosity therefore there is a weak association between religiosity and decreased inflammation. In addition, racial discrimination was included with adverse social experiences and not the sole independent factor measured to determine if religiosity mitigated the effects of inflammation. Lunyera (2018) also measured spiritual coping strategies by determining if there was a correlation between risk factors for chronic kidney disease, perceived daily and lifetime discrimination and reliance on spiritualty as a coping mechanism. Participants were taken from a sample of 5,301 from the Jackson Heart Study. These participants were Black Americans ages 21-94 in the tricounty Jackson, Mississippi metropolitan area and had to have at least one of the following risk factors for chronic kidney disease (CKD): hypertension, diabetes, a history of cardiovascular disease and a high body mass index. They were selected using probability-based and random sampling and baseline data was collected between 2000-2004. There were also two follow-ups between 2005-2008 and 2009-2013. The goal of the study was to determine if 12 different psychosocial factors (which included perceived daily and lifetime discrimination, social support, and spirituality) impacted the prevalence of CKD. Psychosocial factors, which

included relying on spirituality as a coping mechanism, did not appear to affect the prevalence of CKD.

Also, along these lines, in exploring the relationship between racial discrimination, religious coping and hypertension, researchers found that lifetime discrimination was associated with higher rates of hypertension. In addition, religious coping (both positive and negative) seemed to indirectly increase high blood pressure diagnoses because of greater perceptions of discrimination. By this study examining health outcomes based on discrimination, it demonstrated the toll racial discrimination takes on mental health which then has physical implications. It also had results that indicated that religious coping may not be an effective tool; however, the researchers believed a higher perception of discrimination had a greater effect than reliance on religious or spirituals beliefs to help cope with the stress.

Another way that researchers measured stress levels is through substance use. Horton and Loukas (2013) conducted a study in which they sought to discover if religious coping mitigated discrimination as measured by tobacco use. The study compared outcomes between Caucasians, African Americans and Mexican Americans and the sample included 984 technical/vocational students with a mean age of 25. They found that positive religious coping decreased the likelihood of tobacco use for White students while

negative religious coping increased the likelihood for tobacco use for both Whites and Blacks. Interestingly, for African Americans who engaged in positive religious coping, the likelihood of cigarette/tobacco use appeared to increase along with perceived discrimination.

Racial discrimination has been found to increase alcohol-related problems with African Americans. For individuals who seldom relied on religious coping, racial discrimination appeared to indirectly effect their alcohol consumption (Lee et al., 2020). That is, alcohol consumption was greater for those who rarely, or never, relied on religious beliefs as a coping mechanism when dealing with racial discrimination. Lee et al. (2020) conducted a study to determine if religion had any mitigating effects on alcohol use. In this study they found that for those who engaged in low religious coping, racial discrimination indirectly impacted the physical consequence of alcohol use caused by the psychological distress.

When religious and spiritual coping is controlled, life satisfaction has been found to be low and reported stress is high (Vilani et al., 2019). Studies vary on the effects of religious and/or spiritual coping strategies.

#### **Religion and Spirituality**

Religious and spiritual coping was measured in several different ways and certain articles focused on certain aspects of the two. The following scales were utilized in the articles that were reviewed: Brief RCOPE, Daily Spiritual

Experience Scale, Africultural Coping Systems Inventory – Racism Modified Version and Sociocultural Scale. Other options included using a Likert scale or asking questions that pertained to the articles research question(s). Out of the 11 studies that explicitly examined the relationship between

psychological/physiological effects of racial discrimination and religion and/or spirituality as a coping mechanism, 5 of the studies utilized a scale with high validity and reliability. Of the 25 articles reviewed for this paper, one did not measure religious or spiritual coping mechanisms but merely stated that they are used. Eleven of the 24 articles focused on religious coping only, one measured spiritual coping and the remainder included measures for both religious and spiritual coping.

Hayward and Krause (2015) conducted a study to determine if certain aspects of religiosity were used as coping mechanisms for racial discrimination. Their study not only included African Americans but Caribbean Blacks as well. For the purpose of this review, only the data regarding African Americans will be discussed. Of the 2032 African Americans included in the study, 1696 reported that they attended religious services. The data showed that the more regularly an individual attended a service, the more likely they were to pray as a way of coping with discrimination. Also, those who watched religious media content were more likely to rely on prayer as a coping mechanism. Interestingly, those who were considered highly religious and spent a significant amount of time

praying were least likely to take steps to stop discrimination. On the contrary, spirituality, including prayer, led many to take steps to prevent discrimination.

Current research has found the dispositional forgiveness plays an important role for several individuals seeking to cope with interpersonal transgressions. Brooks et al. (2020) conducted a study to determine if dispositional forgiveness, which goes beyond intrinsic religiosity, was a moderating factor for depression as it relates to perceived discrimination. The study sample included 101 African American adults who were a mean age of 21. They found that dispositional forgiveness did in fact moderate perceived racial discrimination and symptoms of depression more than intrinsic religion.

Church attendance is a well-known aspect of religion. Ellison at al. (2008) conducted a study which explored the impact of church attendance and social support on the perception of racial discrimination. The data used came from the National Survey of Black Americans (NSBA) panel study. Data was collected in waves from 1979 to 1992. The initial sample size was 2,107 and ended with 645. This study focused on aspects of religiosity and spirituality and found that regular church attendance and reliance on aspects of religiosity in daily living mitigated the effects of racial discrimination. However, social support did not have a significant impact. Of note, a limitation mentioned in the study is that there was only one question that measured the perception of racial discrimination and

therefore it cannot be determined that the reported psychological stress experienced is the result of racial discrimination.

In another study conducted by Ellison et al. (2017) the effectiveness of religious involvement when experiencing major acts of discrimination was explored. This includes discrimination regarding housing, employment, and other major instances as they relate to unfair treatment on account of race. In this study, data was used from the Vanderbilt University's Nashville Stress and Health Study in which a probability sample of non-Hispanic Black and White individuals ages 22-69 were used. The results only included the data reported by African Americans (n=627). The data was used to measure depression experienced in the past month, major discrimination, and religious involvement. Socio-demographic information was also considered. Religious involvement was measured using a singular question which measured frequency of church attendance and a few associations were made. The first was that past-month depression was negatively correlated with life satisfaction. Second, religious social support was the only form of religious involvement that mitigated the effects of discrimination and mental health.

McCleary-Gaddy and Miller (2019) conducted a study to determine if negative or positive religious coping mitigated the effects of perceived racial discrimination and psychological distress. They found that negative religious

coping (e.g., negative religious reappraisals) significantly mediated emotional responses to perceived discrimination while positive religious coping had no impact. Psychological distress was measured by reported expression of the participants emotions.

# **CHAPTER V**

#### Discussion

Through a structured review of the literature, it was discovered that in some cases, African Americans do rely on religion and/or spirituality to mitigate the effects of racial discrimination. In other cases, it has not been found to have a significant impact. Most studies control for the effects of demographic information; therefore, making it difficult to determine what variance each factors cause. Two studies were found to have used specific age groups which may explain to some degree the role religion and/or spirituality plays. A study conducted by Lee et al. (2020) examined the relationship between racial discrimination, psychological distress, and alcohol consumption among emerging adults. He also investigated if religious coping was used as a protective measure which would lead to a decrease in the consumption of alcohol. Findings from the study suggest that those who endorse high religious coping also report higher levels of psychological stress. It is likely that those who implore religious coping strategies frequently may also experience a high level of stress.

Two other studies examined the relationship between racial discrimination and religious coping strategies with individuals over the age of 55. Both studies found that the emotional/social support provided by members of the church

helped to manage the stress experiences by everyday stressors (Krause, 2004; Utsey et al., 2008). Many of the studies indicated that women, more than men, utilize religious coping strategies to manage race-related stress (Brookes et al., 2021; Ellison et al., 2008; Hayward & Krause, 2015; Lewis-Coles & Constantine, 2006; Sullivan et al., 2021; Thomas et al., 2008; Teteh et al., 2019).

Although there are several valid and reliable scales that can be used to measure ethnic identity (e.g., Multigroup Ethnic Identity Measure, Ethnic Identity Scale, Cross Ethnic-Racial Identity Scale, and others), many researchers have not added this as a component to their studies. Perhaps it is to avoid creating a lengthy questionnaire as doing a full scale would create more questions in comparison to simply asking participants to self-identify with an ethnicity. Despite the additional questions it is helpful to understand the connection one has to their ethnicity as this can impact the perception of racial microaggressions as well as better explain the variance in race-related stress. Strong ethnic ties have been found to be a protective factor for many African Americans (Woo et al., 2019).

There is data to support that reliance on religious and/or spiritual practices can help mitigate effects of race-related factors. There are many factors that contribute to the effectiveness of these strategies such as age, gender, and level of religious and spiritual involvement. There is limited research that discusses the effectiveness of spirituality as a coping mechanism, separate religiosity. More

research in this area will help decipher what strategies individuals are using and what appears to be effective for a specific group of people. It would also be beneficial to explore the degree to which African Americans identify with their ethnicity and/or culture. Establishing this relationship will add another layer of understanding to the complexity of the factors contributing to race-related stress and its impact on individuals.

#### Limitations

There are a few limitations to this review. The first is the limited number of resources that explicitly state microaggressive behaviors. Although the term has be used for many decades (Williams et al., 2020), as was discovered in this structured literature review, it does not appear that there is much research on its relationship with religious and spiritual coping. As such, it is difficult to measure the effects of subtle, daily, race-related events when it is often measured using more blatant forms on inequality. For example, Ellison et al. (2017) explored the relationship between religious involvement and major discrimination such as unfair treatment in labor markets and with housing. This study was able to establish a positive relationship between discrimination and life satisfaction and it demonstrated that religious social support could help buffer the effects of more subtle

discriminatory acts. Another example is Teteh and colleagues (2019) which relied on participants' self-report of unfair treatment during his or her lifetime. They were asked questions regarding unfair treatment with housing, discouragement from teacher or advisor on continuing education, being denied a bank loan or not being hired for a job. While no mitigating effects were found in this study, data showed that religious coping was indirectly associated with increased reports of perceived discrimination.

Another limiting factor is the lack of data that could be used to compare the effectiveness of religious and spiritual coping regarding stress from microaggressive behaviors for different age groups. Many of the studies included students from universities (Brown & Tylka, 2011; Franklin, 2019; Geer, 2011; Utsey et al., 2008) which either created a narrow window (e.g., ages 18-30) or a broad spectrum (e.g., 22-69). Despite having data for young adults, age was often a controlled variable; therefore, it led to the inability to examine age as a factor for psychological well-being. However, studies conducted by Krause in 2004 as well as Nguyen and colleagues in 2018 and 2021, included participants exclusively over the age of 50 which provided insight to coping strategies used amongst the older generation. Long-term psychological well-being could be measured with this group whereas younger participants provide a more momentary indication of well-being. Many studies use a wide range of ages, and it is important to recognize that there may be generational/cultural differences

that contribute to the variation in data. Along with these generational and cultural differences are most likely different perceptions of different forms of discrimination.

Lastly, the results of these finding may be impacted by bias. Given that women are more likely to rely on religion and spirituality to cope with stressors, many of the studies have majority women in their sample; thus, providing significant data that supports the hypothesis that it is an effective coping mechanism.

# **Future Studies**

There are several factors that impact the perception of racial discrimination. One major factor is racial and ethnic identity. Lee and Ahn (2013) examined the relationship between racial identity, ethnic identity, racial socialization, and discrimination. Discrimination and/or psychological distress was tied to either racial identity, ethnic identity, or racial socialization. This implies that the level of connectedness an African American has towards his or her race or culture impacts their perception of discriminatory acts as well as any psychological stress that may occur (Lee & Ahn, 2013). As such, ethnic identity contributes to variance in psychological well-being. This supports the results from Utsey et al. (2008)'s study in which high reports of racism was correlated with high reports of religiosity and more psychological distress. The researchers hypothesized that

the increased psychological distress despite high religiosity was due to high racial pride which likely leads to increased perceptions of racism. This may also have implications for effective coping mechanisms as religion and spirituality alone may not help those with high ethnic and/or racial identity.

Another factor that impacts racism-related reports is level of completed education. Dyke et al. (2017) found a correlation between higher education and discrimination amongst African Americans. That is, African Americans with a college degree reported high incidents of discrimination than individuals with a lower education (ranges from no education to some college). This study shows that the level of education one has also impacts reports of discrimination. This also has implications on studies that use populations solely from universities.

There are also many studies that use microaggressions and racial discrimination interchangeably. While racial microaggressions are a form of discrimination, there is a need to study the effects of these more subtle acts. As of March 2022, the House passed the CROWN Act which would ban discrimination based on cultural hairstyles. This law demonstrates that microaggressive behaviors continue to effect African Americans today and have just as significant an impact as the more transparent forms of discrimination.

# Conclusion

While the research did not support that religious and/or spiritual coping mechanisms are effective coping mechanisms for mitigating stress caused by racial microaggressions, it did demonstrate their effectiveness for racial discrimination in general. There is evidence that both men and women rely on their religious or spiritual beliefs to help buffer racism-related psychological distress (Krause, 2004; Odom & Vernon-Geagans, 2010; Sullivan et al., 2021). There is also evidence that religiosity and spirituality increase psychological wellbeing with African Americans over the age of 50 who report frequent race-related events (Krause, 2004; Nguyen et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2021). There is not substantial data to indicate a relationship between religiosity/spirituality, ethnic identity, and psychological well-being. Nor is there enough data to establish a relationship between religiosity/spirituality, reported racial microaggression and psychological well-being. There are many factors that impact reports of microaggressive encounters which should be considered in future studies. Studies should also measure the salience of religion/spirituality as well as racial/ethnic identity when seeking to measure psychological well-being as it related to racial microaggressions.

#### REFERENCES

Abel, M. H. (2002). Humor, stress, and coping strategies. *Journal of Humor Research, 15*(4), 365-381. https://doi.org/10.1515/humr.15.4.365

Agunwamba, A. A., Kawachi, I., Williams, D. R., Finney Rutten, L. J., Wilson, P. M., & Viswanath, K. (2017). Mental health, racial discrimination, and tobacco Use differences across rural-urban California. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *33*(2), 180–189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12182</u>

Applebaum, A. J., Stein, E. M., Lord-Bessen, J., Pessin, H., Rosenfeld, B., & Breitbart, W. (2014). Optimism, social support, and mental health outcomes in patients with advanced cancer. *Psycho-oncology*, *23*(3), 299–306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3418</u>

Aravindan, J. S., & Vivekanandan, K. (2017). An empirical approach for validation of inter-rater reliability of identified candidate aspects. *International Journal of Computer Sciences and Engineering, 5*(5), 94-100.

Assari, S., Mistry, R., Lee, D. B., Caldwell, C. H., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2019). Perceived racial discrimination and marijuana use a decade later; Gender differences among black youth. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, 7(78), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2019.00078</u>

- Bailey, T. M., Chung, Y. B., Williams, W. S., Singh, A. A., & Terrell, H. K. (2011).
  Development and validation of the internalized racial oppression scale for
  Black individuals. *Journal of Counseling Psychology, 58*(4), 481-493.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023585
- Boutwell, B. B., Nedelec, J. L., Winegard, B., Shackelford, T., Beaver, K. M., Vaughn, M., Barnes, J. C., & Wright, J. P. (2017). The prevalence of discrimination across racial groups in contemporary America: Results from a nationally representative sample of adults. *PlosOne, 12*(8).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183356

- Boynton, M. H., O'Hara, R. E., Covault, J., Scott, D., & Tennen, H. (2014). A mediational model of racial discrimination and alcohol-related problems among African American college students. *Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs*, *75*(2), 228–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2014.75.228</u>
- Breitbart, W., Gibson, C., Poppito, S. R., & Berg, A. (2004). Psychotherapeutic Interventions at the End of Life: A Focus on Meaning and Spirituality. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 49*(6), 366–372.

https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370404900605

Brondolo, E., Brady, N., Pencille, M., Beatty, D., & Contrada, R. J. (2009).
Coping with racism: A selective review of literature theoretical and methodological critique. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *32*(1), 64-88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-008-9193-0

- Brooks, J.R. Hong, J.H., Madubata, I.J., Odafe, M.O., Cheref, S., & Walker, R.L.
  (2020). The moderating effect of dispositional forgiveness on perceived racial discrimination and depression for African American Adults. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *27*(3), 511-520.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000385
- Brown, A. (2019). *Key findings on Americans' views of race in 2019*. Pew Research Center. Retrieved March 20, 2021, from https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/04/09/key-findings-onamericans-views-of-race-in-2019/
- Brown, D. L., & Tylka, T. L. (2011). Racial discrimination and resilience in African
  American young adults: Examining racial socialization as a moderator. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *37*(3), 259-285.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798410390689

Brown, T. L., Phillips, C. M., Abdullah, T., Vinson, E., & Robertson, J. (2011).
Dispositional versus situations coping: Are the coping strategies African
Americans use different for general versus racism-related stressors? *Journal of Black Psychology, 37*(3), 311-335.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798410390688

Carliner, H., Delker, E., Fink, D. S., Keyes, K. M., & Hasin, D. S. (2016). Racial discrimination, socioeconomic position, and illicit drug use among US

Blacks. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 51(4), 551–560. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-016-1174-y

- Carver C. S. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol's too long: consider the brief COPE. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *4*(1), 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327558ijbm0401\_6
- Chatters, L. M., Taylor, R. J., Jackson, J. S., & Lincoln, K. D. (2008). Religious coping among African Americans, Caribbean Blacks and Non-Hispanic Whites. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *36*(3), 371-386. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20202
- Clark, R., Anderson, N. B., Clark, V. R., & Williams, D. (1999). Racism as a stressor for African Americans: A biopsychosocial model. *American Psychologist, 54*(10). 805-516. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.54.10.805
- Cotton, S., Puchalski, C. M., Sherman, S. N., Mrus, J. M., Peterman, A. H.,
  Feinberg, J., Pargament, K. I., Justice, A. C., Leonard, A. C., & Tsevat, J.
  (2006). Spirituality and religion in patients with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *21* (S5), S5–S13.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00642.x
- Daly, A., Jennings, J., Beckett, J. O., & Leashore, B. R. (1995). Effective coping strategies of African Americans. *Social Work, 40,* 240 –248. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/40.2.240

Dolezsar, C. M., McGrath, J. J., Herzig, A., & Miller, S. B. (2014). Perceived racial discrimination and hypertension: A comprehensive systematic review. *Health Psychology*, 33(1), 20–34. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033718

Douds, K. W., & Hout, M. (2020). Microaggressions in the United States. Sociological Science, 7, 528-543. https://doi.org/10.15195/v7.a22

- Ellison, C. G., Musick, M. A., & Henderson, A. K. (2008). Balm in Gilead: Racism, religious involvement, and psychological distress among African-American adults. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 47*(2), 291-309. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5906.2008.00408.x
- Ellison, C. G., DeAngelis, R. T., & Guven, M. (2017). Does religious involvement mitigate the effects of major discrimination on the mental health of African Americans? Findings from the Nashville stress and health study.

*Religions, 8*(9), 195. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rel8090195</u>

- English Standard Version Bible. (2001). English Standard Version Online. https://www.esv.org/Luke+23/ (Original work published 2001).
- Feagin, J., & Bennefield, Z. (2014). Systemic racism and U.S. health care. Social Science & Medicine, 103, 7-14.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.09.006

Feder, A., Ahmad, S., Lee, E. J., Morgan, J. E., Singh, R., Smith, B. W., Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2013). Coping and PTSD symptoms in Pakistani earthquake survivors: purpose in life, religious coping and social support. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *147*(1-3), 156–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.10.027</u>

- Franklin, J. D. (2019). Coping with racial battle fatigue: differences and similarities for African American and Mexican American college students. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 22(5), 589-609. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2019.1579178
- Gender pay gap. Payscale. (2021). Retrieved September 12, 2021, from https://www.payscale.com/research-and-insights/gender-pay-gap/
- George, L. K., Ellison, C. G., & Larson, D. B. (2002). Explaining the relationships between religious involvement and health. *Psychological Inquiry*, *13*(3), 190-200. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1303\_04

Gerber, M. M., Boals, A., & Schuettler, D. (2011). The unique contributions of positive and negative religious coping to posttraumatic growth and PTSD. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality, 3*(4), 298-307.
https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023016

Greer, T. M. (2011). Coping strategies as moderators of the relation between individual race-related stress and mental health symptoms for African American women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 35(2), 215-226. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684311399388

- Harrell, S. P. (2000). A multidimensional conceptualization of racism-related stress: Implications for the well-being of people of color. *American Journal* of Orthopsychiatry, 70(1), 42–57. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087722
- Harwood, S. A., Hunt, M. B., Mendenhall, R., & Lewis, J. A. (2012). Racial microaggressions in the residence halls: Experiences of students of color at a predominantly White university. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, *5*(3), 159-173. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028956
- Hernández, P., Carranza, M., & Almeida, R. (2010). Mental health professionals' adaptive responses to racial microaggressions: An exploratory study. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *41*(3), 202-209.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018445
- Holder, A., Jackson, M. A., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2015). Racial microaggression experiences and coping strategies of Black women in corporate leadership. *Qualitative Psychology*, *2*(2), 164-180. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000024
- Horton, K. D. & Loukas, A. (2013). Discrimination, religious coping, and tobacco use among White, African American, and Mexican American vocational school students. *Journal of Religion and Health*, *5*2(1), 169-183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-011-9462-z
- Hu, B., Liu, X., Yin, S., Fan, H., Feng, Fumin, & Yuan, J (2015). Effects of psychological stress on hypertension in middle-aged Chinese: A cross-

sectional study. Plos One, 10(6), 1-13.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129163

- Huber, L. P., & Solorzano, D. G. (2014). Racial microaggressions as a tool for critical race research, *Race Ethnicity and Education*, *18*(3), 297-320. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2014.994173
- Hudson, D. L., Eaton, J., Lewis, P., Grant, P., Sewell, W., & Gilbert, K. (2016).
  "Racism?!?...Just look at our neighborhoods": Views on racial discrimination and coping among African American men in Saint Louis. *Journal of Men's Studies, 24*(2), 130-150.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1060826516641103

Feagin, J., & Bennefield, Z. (2014). Systemic racism and U.S. health care. *Social Science & Medicine*, *103*, 7–14.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.09.006

- Feder, A., Ahmad, S., Lee, E. J., Morgan, J. E., Singh, R., Smith, B. W., Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2013). Coping and PTSD symptoms in Pakistani earthquake survivors: Purpose in life, religious coping and social support. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *147*(1-3), 156–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.10.027
- James, S. A. (1994). John Henryism and the health of African-Americans. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry: An International Journal of Cross-*

Cultural Health Research, 18(2), 163–182.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01379448

- Joseph-Salibury, R. & Connelly, L. (2018). 'If your hair is relaxed, white people are relaxed. If your hair is nappy, they're not happy:' Black hair as a sit of 'post-racial' social control in English schools. *Social Sciences, 7*(11), 219. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci7110219
- Karlsen, S., & Nazroo, J. Y. (2002). Relation between racial discrimination, social class, and health among ethnic minority groups. *American journal of public health*, 92(4), 624–631. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.92.4.624
- Kerpelman, J. L., Eryigit, S., & Stephens, C. J. (2008). African American adolescents' future education orientation: Associations with self-efficacy, ethnic identity, and perceived parental support. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *37*(8), 997-1008. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9201-7
- Keith, V. M., Nguyen, A. W., Taylor, R. J., Mouzon, D. M., & Chatters, L. M.
  (2017). Microaggressions, discrimination, and phenotype among African
  Americans: A latent class analysis of the impact of skin tone and BMI, *Social Inquiry, 87*(2), 233-255. https://doi.org/10.1111/soin.12168
- King, P. E., & Furrow, J. L. (2004). Religion as a resource for positive youth development: Religion, social capital, and moral outcomes. *American Psychological Association, 40*(5), 703-713. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.40.5.703

- Krause, N., & Ellison, C. G. (2003). Forgiveness by God, forgiveness of others, and psychological well–being in late life. *Journal for the scientific study of religion*, 42(1), 77-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5906.00162
- Krause, N. (2004). Common facets of religion, unique facets of religion, and life satisfaction among older African Americans. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B, 59*(2), S109–S117, https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/59.2.S109
- Krieger, N., & Sidney, S. (1996). Racial discrimination and blood pressure: The CARDIA study of young Black and White adults. *American Journal of Public Health*, 86(10), 1370–1378.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.86.10.1370

- Landrine, H., & Klonoff, E. A. (1996). The schedule of racist events: A measure of racial discrimination and a study of its negative physical and mental health consequences. *Journal of Black Psychology, 22*(2), 144-168. https://doi.org10.1177/00957984960222002
- Lee, D. B., Hope, M. O., Heinze, J. E., Cunningham, M., Caldwell, C. H. &
  Zimmerman, M. A. (2020). Psychological pathway from racial discrimination to the physical consequences of alcohol consumption:
  Religious coping as a protective factor. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 19(3), 453-475. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2018.1540956
- Lee, D. L., & Ahn, S. (2013). The relation of racial identity, ethnic identity, and racial socialization to discrimination–distress: A meta-analysis of Black

Americans. *Journal of Counseling Psychology, 60*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031275

- Lewis, L. M., Hankin, S., Reynolds, D., & Ogedegbe, G. (2007). African American spirituality: A process of honoring God, others, and self. *Journal of Holistic Nursing*, 25(1), 16-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898010106289857
- Lewis, J. A., & Neville, H. A. (2015). Construction and initial validation of the gendered racial microaggressions scale for Black women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *62*(2), 289. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000062
- Lewis-Coles, M.E., & Constantine, M. G. (2006). Racism-related stress,
  Africultural coping, and religious problem-solving among African
  Americans. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 12*(3), 433443. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.12.3.433
- Li, L., Li, X., Zhou, W., & Messina, J. L. (2013). Acute psychological stress results in the rapid development of insulin resistance. *The Journal of Endocrinology*, *217*(2), 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-12-0559
- Linnabery, E., Stuhlmacher, A. F., & Towler, A. (2014). From whence cometh their strength: Social support, coping, and well-being of Black women professionals. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 20(4), 541. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037873
- Litman, J. A. (2006). The COPE inventory: Dimensionality and relationships with approach- and avoidance-motives and positive and negative traits.

Personality and Individual Differences, 41(2), 273–284.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2005.11.032

- Lunyera, J. Davenport, C. A., Bhavsar, N. A., Sims, M., Scialla, J., Pendergast, J., Hall, R., Tyson, C.C., St. Clair Russell, J., Wang, W., Correa, A., Boulware, L. E., & Diamantidis, C. J. (2018). Nondepressive psychosocial factors and CKD outcomes in Americans. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 13*(2), 213-222. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.06430617
- Mattis, J. S. (2002). Religion and spirituality in the meaning-making and coping experiences of African American women: A qualitative analysis. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 26*, 308-320.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-6402.t01-2-00070
- Mattis, J. S., Beckham, W. P., Saunders, B. A., Williams, J. E., McAllister, D., Myers, V., & Dixon, C. (2004). Who will volunteer? Religiosity, everyday racism, and social participation among African American men. *Journal of Adult Development, 11*(4), 261-272.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JADE.0000044529.92580.6d

 Masci, D., Mohamed, B., & Smith, G. A. (2018). Black Americans more likely to be Christian, Protestant than US adults overall. *Pew Research Center*.
 Retrieved September 12, 2021, from https://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2018/04/23/black-americans-are-more-likely-than-overall-public-tobe-christian-protestant/

- McCleary-Gaddy, A. T., & Miller, C. T. (2019). Negative religious coping as a mediator between perceived prejudice and psychological distress among African Americans: A structural equation modeling approach. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality, 11*(3), 257–265. https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000228
- McLemore, M. R., Altman, M. R., Cooper, N., Williams, S., Rand, L., & Franck, L. (2018). Health care experiences of pregnancy, birthing, and postnatal women of color at risk for preterm birth. *Social Science & Medicine, 201,* 127-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.02.013
- Mohamed, B., Gecewicz, C., Diamant, J., & Cox, K. (2021). Faith and religion among Black Americans. *Pew Research Center.* Retrieved September 12, 2021, from https://www.pewforum.org/2021/02/16/faith-among-blackamericans/
- Nadal, K. L., Griffin, K. E., Wong, Y., Hamit, S., & Rasmus, M. (2014). The impact of racial microaggressions on mental health: Counseling implications for clients of color. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 92(1), 57-66.

https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2014.00130.x

Nadal, K. L., Mazzula, S. L., Rivera, D. P., & Fujii-Doe, W. (2014). Microaggressions and Latina/o Americans: An analysis of nativity, gender, and ethnicity. *Journal of Latina/o Psychology*, 2(2), 67-78. https://doi.org/10.1037/lat0000013

- Ng, W., Diener, E., Aurora, R., & Harter, J. (2009). Affluence, feelings of stress, and well-being. *Social Indicators Research, 94,* 257-271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9422-5
- Nguyen, A.W. (2018). African American elders, mental health and the role of the church. *American Society on Aging, 42*(2), 61-67. Downloaded from https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/26556362
- Nguyen, A. W., Wang, F., Qin, W., & Hamler, T.C. (2021). The role of church support networks in the relationship between discrimination and psychiatric disorders among older African Americans. *Review of Religious Research, 64*(1), 35-54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13644-021-00464-z

Odom, E. C., & Vernon-Feagans, L. (2010). Buffers of racial discrimination: Links with depression among rural African American mothers. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 7*2(2), 346–359.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00704.x

 Oka, T. (2015). Psychogenic fever: how psychological stress affects body temperature in the clinical population. *Temperature, 2*(3), 368-378. https://10.1080/23328940.2015.1056907 Pargament, K. I., Feuille, M., & Burdzy, D. (2011). The brief RCOPE: Current psychometric status of a short measure of religious coping. *Religions, 2*(1), 51-76. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel2010051

Pargament, K. I., Koenig, H. G., Tarakeshwar, N., & Hahn, J. (2004). Religious coping methods as predictors of psychological, physical and spiritual outcomes among medically ill elderly patients: A two-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *9*(6), 713-730. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105304045366

- Pargament, K. I., & Raiya, H. A. (2007) A decade of research on the psychology of religion and coping: Things we assumed and lessons we learned. *Psyke & Logos*, 28(2), 742-766.
- Park, J., Flores, A. J., Aschbacher, K., & Mendes, W. B. (2018). When anger expression might be beneficial for African Americans: The moderating role of chronic discrimination. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 24(3), 303–318. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000185
- Pew Research Center. (2009). A religious portrait of African Americans. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pewforum.org/2009/01/30/a-religious-portrait-of-african-americans/#2</u>
- Pew Research Center. (2015, September 9). Religion in America: U.S. religious data, demographics and statistics. Retrieved from

http://www.pewforum.org/religious-landscape-study/racial-and-ethniccomposition/

- Polanco-Roman, L., Danies, A., & Anglin, D. M. (2016). Racial discrimination as race-based trauma, coping strategies, and dissociative symptoms among emerging adults. *Psychological trauma: Theory, research, practice and policy*, 8(5), 609–617. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000125
- Post, D. M., & Weddington, W. H. (2000). Stress and coping of the African-American physician. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *92*(2), 70–75.
- Prelow, H. M., Mosher, C. E., & Bowman, M. A. (2006). Perceived racial discrimination, social support, and psychological adjustment among African American college students. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *32*(4), 442-454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798406292677
- Raghallaigh, M. N. (2011). Religion in the lives of unaccompanied minors: An available and compelling coping resource. *British Journal of Social Work, 41*(3), 539-556. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcq136
- Rippentrop, A. E., Altmaier, E. M., Chen, J. J., Found, E. M., & Keffala, V. J. (2005). The relationship between religion/spirituality and physical health, mental health, and pain in a chronic pain population. *Pain*, *116*(3), 311-321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.05.008

Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (2017). Discrimination in America:

Experiences and views on effects of discrimination across major population groups in the United States. Retrieved from https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2017/10/discrimination-in-america--experiences-and-views.html

- Rosmarin, D. H., Bigda-Peyton, J. S., Ongur, D., Pargament, K. I., &
  Bjorgvinsson, T. (2013). Religious coping among psychotic patients:
  Relevance to suicidality and treatment outcomes, *Psychiatry Research,* 201(1), 182-187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2013.03.023
- Sawyer, P. J., Major, B., Casad, B. J., Townsend, S. S. M., & Mendes, W. B. (2012). Discrimination and the stress response: Psychological and physiological consequences of anticipating prejudice in interethnic interactions. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(5), 1020-1026. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300620
- Seaton, E. K., Caldwell, C. H., Sellers, R. M., & Jackson, J. S. (2010). An intersectional approach for understanding perceived discrimination and psychological well-being among African American and Caribbean Black youth. *Developmental Psychology, 46(5), 1372–1379.*https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019869
- Sellers, R. M., Caldwell, C. H., Schmeelk-Cone, K. H., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2003). Racial identity, racial discrimination, perceived stress, and

psychological distress among African American young adults. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *44*(3), 302-317.

https://doi.org/10.2307/1519781

- Shorten-Gooden, K. (2004). Multiple resistance strategies: How African American women cope with racism and sexism. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 30(3), 406-425. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798404266050
- Smith, W. A. (2004). Black faculty coping with racial battle fatigue: The campus racial climate in a post-civil rights era. In D. Cleveland (Ed.), A long way to go: Conversations about race by African American faculty and graduate students (14<sup>th</sup> ed., pp. 170-190). Peter Lang.
- Smith, W. A., Allen, W. R., & Danley, L. L. (2007). "Assume the position...You fit the description": Psychosocial experiences and racial battle fatigue among African American male college students. *American Behavioral Scientist,* 51(4), 551–578. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764207307742
- Smith, W. A., Hung, M., & Franklin, J. D. (2011). Racial battle fatigues and the miseducation of Black men: Racial microaggressions, societal problems, and environmental stress. *The Journal of Negro Education*, *80*(1), 63-82.
- Soto, J. A., Dawson-Andoh, N. A., & BeLue, R. (2011). The relationship between perceived discrimination and generalized anxiety disorder among African Americans, Afro Caribbeans, and non-Hispanic Whites. *Journal of anxiety disorders*, *25*(2), 258-265.

Stults-Kolehmainen, M. A., & Sinha, R. (2014). The effects of stress on physical activity and exercise. *Sports Medicine*, *44*(1), 81–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-013-0090-5

Sue, D. W., Bucceri, J., Lin, A. I., Nadal, K. L., & Torino, G. C. (2007). Racial microaggressions and the Asian American experience. *Cultural Diversity* and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 13(1), 72-81. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.13.1.72

- Sue, D. W., Capodilupo, C. M., & Holder, A. M. B. (2008). Racial microaggressions in the life experience of Black Americans. *Research and Practice*, 39(3), 329-336. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7028.39.3.329
- Sue, D. W., Capodilupo, C. M., Torino, G. C., Bucceri, J. M., Holder, A. M. B.,
  Nadal, K. L. & Esquilin, M. (2007). Racial microaggression in everyday life:
  Implications for clinical practice. *American Psychologist Association,*62(4), 271-286. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.62.4.271
- Sue, D. W., Nadal, K. L., Capodilupo, C. M., Lin, A. I., Torino, G. C., & Rivera, D.
  P. (2008). Racial microaggressions against Black Americans: Implications for counseling. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, *86*(3), 330-338. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00517.x
- Sullivan, J. M., Harman, M., & Sullivan, S. (2021). Gender differences in African Americans' reactions to and coping with discrimination: Results from the

national study of American life. *Journal of Community Psychology, 49*(7), 2424–2440. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22677

Szymanski, D. M., & Obiri, O. (2011). Do religious coping styles moderate or mediate the external and internalized racism-distress links? *The Counseling Psychologist, 39*(3), 438–462. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000010378895

- Taylor, R. J., & Chatters, L. M. (2010). Importance of religion and spirituality in the lives of African Americans, Caribbean Blacks and non-Hispanic Whites. *The Journal of Negro Education*, *79*(3), 280-294).
- Teteh, D. K., Lee, J. W., Montgomery, S. B., & Wilson, C. M. (2020). Working together with God: Religious coping, perceived discrimination, and hypertension. *Journal of Religion and Health*, *59*(1), 40–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-019-00822-w
- Thomas, A. J., Witherspoon, K. M., & Speight, S. L. (2008). Gendered racism, psychological distress, and coping styles: African American women. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 14*(4), 307-314. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.14.4.307
- Torino, G. (2017, November 10). How racism and microaggressions lead to worse health. Center for Health Journalism. https://centerforhealthjournalism.org/2017/11/08/how-racism-andmicroaggressions-lead-worse-health

- Troxel, W. M., Matthews, K. A., Bromberger, J. T., & Sutton-Tyrrell, K. (2003). Chronic stress burden, discrimination, and subclinical carotid artery disease in African American and Caucasian women. *Health Psychology*, 22(3), 300-309. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.22.3.300
- Turner, C.S.V. & Gonzalez, J.C. (2011). Faculty women of color: The critical nexus of race and gender. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education, 4*(4), 199-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024630</u>.
- Utsey, S. O., Giesbrecht, N., Hook, J., & Stanard, P. M. (2008). Cultural, sociofamiliar, and psychological resources that inhibit psychological distress in African Americans exposed to stressful life events and racerelated stress. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *55*(1), 49-62. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.55.1.49
- VanderWeele, T. J., Yu, J, Cozier, Y. C., Wise, L., Argentieri, M. A., Rosenberg,
  L., Palmer, J. R., & Shields, A. E. (2017). Attendance at religious services,
  prayer, religious coping, and religious/spiritual identity as predictors of allcause mortality in the Black women's health study. *American Journal of Epidemiology, 185*(7), https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kww179
- Vilani, D., Sorgente, A., Iannello, P., & Antonietti, A. (2019). The role of spirituality and religiosity in subjective well-being of individuals with different religious status. *Frontiers in Psychology, 10,* 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01525

- Ward, E. C., Clark, L. O., & Heidrich, S. (2009). African American women's beliefs, coping behaviors, and barriers to seeking mental health services. *Qualitative Health Research*, *19*(11), 1589-1601. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732309350686
- What is stress? The American Institute of Stress. (2017, January 4). Retrieved January 1, 2021, from https://www.stress.org/what-is-stress
- Williams, M. G., & Lewis, J. A. (2019). Gendered racial microaggressions and depressive symptoms among Black women: A moderated mediation model. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *43*(3), 368-380.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684319832511

- Williams, M. T. (2020). Microaggressions: Clarification, evidence, and impact.
   *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *15*(1), 3-26.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691619827499
- Williams, M. T., Skinta, M. D., Kanter, J. W., Martin-Willet, R., Mier-Chairez, J., Debreaux, M., & Rosen, D. C. (2020). A qualitative study of microaggressions against African Americans on predominately White campuses. *BMC Psychology*, *8*, 111. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-020-00472-8
- Wong, C. A., Eccles, J. S., & Sameroff, A. (2003). The influence of ethnic discrimination and ethnic identification on African American adolescents'

school and socioemotional adjustment. *Journal of personality*, *71*(6), 1197-1232. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.7106012

- Woo, B., Fan, W., Tran, T. V., & Takeuchi, D. T. (2019). The role of racial/ethnic identity in the association between racial discrimination and psychiatric disorders: A buffer or exacerbator? *SSM Population Health*, *7*, 100378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100378
- Wood, J. L. & Hilton, A. A. (2012). Spirituality and academic success:Perceptions of African American males in the community college.*Religion& Education, 39*, 28-47.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15507394.2012.648576

# VITA

After completing her work at Stony Point High School in Round Rock Texas, in 2011, Ashia Anderson entered Texas A&M University in College Station, Texas. She received the degree of Bachelor of Science in Psychology from Texas A&M University in December 2015. In the Fall of 2016, she entered the Graduate School of Stephen F. Austin State University and received the degree of Master of Arts in School Psychology in December of 2022.

American Psychological Association, 7th Edition

This thesis was typed by Ashia J. Anderson